#### No. 45565-0-II

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### THE CITY OF BURLINGTON, a Washington Municipal Corporation,

Appellant,

v.

THE WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD, a Washington Agency; HAKAM SINGH AND JANE DOE SINGH, and the marital community composed thereof; and HK INTERNATIONAL, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Respondents.

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

Thomas M. Fitzpatrick, WSBA #8894 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 18010 Southcenter Parkway Tukwila, WA 98188 (206) 574-6661 Attorneys for Appellant The City of Burlington

###

### A. INTRODUCTION

This case involves the standing of a city, with its broad responsibility and authority for police powers within its boundaries, to address the issue of the location of a liquor licensee after the deregulation of liquor by Initiative 1183 ("I-1183"). The Washington State Liquor Control Board ("WSLCB") acknowledges that the City of Burlington ("City") had standing in the administrative process before the WSLCB to challenge the relocation of a liquor license by the Singhs and HK International, LLC ("license applicants"). Indeed, by statute, the City was entitled to notice of such an application and had a right to demand a public hearing on the application (a hearing the WSLCB arbitrarily denied the City). The trial court here concluded that despite the City's obvious police power interest, its statutory right to notice, and its participation in the administrative process, it lacked standing to seek judicial review under the Administrative Procedures Act, RCW 34.05 ("APA") of the WSLCB's grant of the relocation of the liquor license, as the trial court orally ruled.

The trial court's standing decision is unsustainable, and the WSLCB had no authority under I-1183 or otherwise to relocate the liquor license here.

### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

(1) Assignments of Error

	1.	The trial court erred in entering its October 25, 2013 order.
	2.	The trial court erred in entering Findings of Fact number 3.
	3.	The trial court erred in entering Findings of Fact number 5.
	4.	The trial court erred in entering Findings of Fact number 6.
10.	5.	The trial court erred in entering Findings of Fact number
12.	6.	The trial court erred in entering Findings of Fact number
13.	7.	The trial court erred in entering Findings of Fact number
numbe	8. er 2.	The trial court erred in entering Conclusions of Law
numbe	9. er 3.	The trial court erred in entering Conclusions of Law
numbe	10. er 4.	The trial court erred in entering Conclusions of Law
numbe	11. er 5.	The trial court erred in entering Conclusions of Law
	(2)	Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error
	1	Did the trial count on in completing that a site

1. Did the trial court err in concluding that a city lacked standing to seek judicial review under the APA of an adverse decision of the WSLCB on licensure when it is undisputed that the city had standing in the administrative process before the WSLCB and had a statutory right to notice of such a license application and to object, and the city generally had an interest in such a license associated with its police power authority? (Assignment of Error Numbers 1, 10, 11). 2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to consider declarations on standing when the WSLCB raised standing for the first time in its response to City's opening brief on the merits, and the trial court specifically requested supplemental materials on standing, where such materials were pertinent and necessary for the standing decision? (Assignment of Error Numbers 1, 7, 9).

3. Did the trial court err in concluding, contrary to its oral decision, that the WSLCB properly permitted a license applicant to relocate its license where the WSLCB refused to conduct a hearing on such relocation, nothing in the Liquor Act or I-1183 authorized relocation, and the WSLCB had no policy or rule in place permitting such relocations? (Assignment of Error Numbers 1, 2-6, 8-9, 11).

### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December 1933, the Twenty-First Amendment to the United States Constitution was ratified and went into effect, ending Prohibition. U.S. CONST. amend. XXI; *Costco Wholesale Corp. v. Maleng*, 522 F.3d 874, 881 (9th Cir. 2008) ("*Maleng*"). The effect of the Twenty-First Amendment was to give the states broad regulatory power over liquor sales within their territories. *Joseph E. Seagram & Sons, Inc. v. Hostetter*, 384 U.S. 35, 42, 86 S. Ct. 1254, 16 L.Ed.2 336 (1966). In Washington, the Legislature crafted a unique regulatory scheme through passage of the Washington State Liquor Act ("Liquor Act") in 1934.<sup>1</sup> Laws of 1933, Ex.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Liquor Act is also referred to as the Steele Act. See Costco Wholesale Corp. v. Hoen, Finding of Fact No. 2, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27141 (W.D. Wash. April 21, 2006), corrected, Costco Wholesale Corp. v. Hoen, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27966 (W.D. Wash. May 9, 2006), aff'd in part and rev'd in part sub. nom., Costco Wholesale Corp. v. Maleng, 514 F.3d 874 (9th Cir. 2008).

Sess., ch. 62; Title 66 RCW; *Hi-Starr, Inc. v. Liquor Control Bd.*, 106 Wn.2d 455, 460, 722 P.2d 808 (1986). Under that Act, the State retained exclusive control over the sale of spirits<sup>2</sup> through State and contract stores. *Washington Ass'n for Substance Abuse and Violence Prevention v. State*, 174 Wn.2d 642, 648, 278 P.3d 632 (2012), ("*WASAV*"); former RCW 66.16.010 (2005).

When it enacted its statutory scheme for regulation of liquor, the State preempted local government from having any power to license the sale of, impose excise tax upon, or to license the sale or distribution of liquor. RCW 66.08.120. However, the Legislature recognized that liquor sales, and the establishments that sell liquor, can and do foster adverse social effects including crime, drunkenness, and other social problems. Accordingly, the Legislature specifically exempted local government from the broad sweep of preemption and recognized that counties and municipalities have the power to adopt police ordinances and regulations, which do not conflict with WSLCB rules. Local governments were also given responsibility for investigating and prosecuting violations of the Liquor Act pursuant to RCW 66.44.010, including violations relating to minors (RCW 66.44.270) and open container prohibitions. In enacting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The term "spirits" is defined by state law to mean "any beverage which contains alcohol obtained by distillation, including wines exceeding twenty-four percent of alcohol by volume." RCW 66.04.010(33).

this statutory scheme, the Legislature recognized the importance of the legitimate police power interests of local governments, including those specifically related to minors. The trial court found: "The City of Burlington is entrusted with ensuring public safety, including the prevention of minors obtaining alcohol, and fighting crime." CP 224 (FF 11).

In addition, the statutory scheme created for licensing establishments that would sell liquor also specifically recognized the important role of local government in representing its citizens on liquor sales and the importance of avoiding the location of liquor sellers near to schools, churches, and public institutions. Accordingly, RCW 66.24.010(8) provides that before the WSLCB issues a new or a renewal of a license it must give notice to the chief executive officer of any city in which the premises to be licensed are located. Such city has a right to file written objections with the Board against the applicant or the "premises for which the new or renewal license is asked." In addition, the statute provided the city right to request a hearing on whether a license should be granted for the premises, which the applicant is asking, be licensed. In deciding whether to issue a license, the WSLCB is required by statute "to give substantial weight" to the objections of any city based upon chronic illegal activity, that threatens the public health, safety, or welfare of the

city. RCW 66.24.010(12). The statute also required the WSLCB to give "due consideration" to the location of the business to be licensed with respect to the proximity of churches, schools, and public institutions. RCW 66.24.010(9). Parks are defined as "public institutions" under the statute. *Id*.

Although periodically challenged in the courts and amended from time-to-time by the Legislature, the essential attributes of the Liquor Act – including the state monopoly over the sale of spirits - remained largely unchanged from the date of its passage through the early years of the current decade. *WASAV*, 174 Wn.2d at 659. While grocery stores were licensed by the WSLCB to sell wine, the WSLCB's control over the sale of spirits remained strict. *Compare, e.g.*, former RCW 66.28.280 (permitting private sale of wine) *with* former RCW 66.16.010 (state control of sale of spirits). More recently, however, efforts to reform the state's liquor regulation system were initiated through legislation and initiatives to the people. *WASAV*, 174 Wn.2d at 649.

In 2004, Costco filed suit against the WSLCB, challenging various of its regulatory provisions. *Costco Wholesale Corp. v. Hoen*, 407 F. Supp.2d 1234 (W.D. Wash. 2005), *aff'd in part and rev'd in part*, 522 F.3d. 874 (9th Cir. 2008). The WSLCB ultimately prevailed with respect to all but one of the regulations that Costco sought to invalidate. See Maleng, 522 F.3d at 904.

Costco and other liquor reform promoters subsequently supported various attempts to rewrite Washington's liquor regulations through legislation and initiatives to the people. WASAV, 174 Wn.2d at 649. In 2010, Costco backed Initiative 1100, a liquor privatization measure. Washington Secretary of State, Checking out I-1100 (July 8, 2010) (available at http://blogs.sos.wa.gov/FromOurCorner/index.php/2010/07/ checking-out-i-1100/). In 2010, no fewer than five bills were introduced in the Legislature seeking to privatize the sale of spirits, including HB 2845 (direction to WSLCB to prepare a report regarding privatization of liquor sales); SB 6840 (companion bill to HB 2845); SB 6204 (companion bill to HB 2845); HB 2890 (privatization of liquor sales through "liquor franchise holders"); and SB 6886 (privatizing of liquor sales to include closing of all state liquor stores and distribution facilities). The liquor reform promoters' legislative attempts at reform were ultimately unsuccessful. WASAV, 174 Wn.2d at 658.

But on November 8, 2011, Washington voters passed Initiative 1183: the liquor privatization measure.<sup>3</sup> AR 1; *WASAV*, 174 Wn.2d at 646. By all accounts, "I-1183 dramatically changed the State's approach

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> I-1183 is provided in Appendix A.

to regulating the distribution and sale of liquor in Washington." *Id.* at 649. As found by our Supreme Court, I-1183 was designed to address the primary concerns that its supporters felt had impeded prior attempts to reform Washington's liquor laws, including "limiting the number and type of retail outlets that would sell spirits for off-premises consumption." *Id.* 

Under I-1183, a license to sell spirits at retail could only be issued for those retailers whose premises were comprised of "at least ten thousand square feet of fully enclosed retail space within a single structure." I-1183 § 103(3)(a); RCW 66.24.630(3)(a). At the same time, an exception to the minimum square foot requirement was provided for former state liquor stores, and contract liquor stores.<sup>4</sup> I-1183 § 103(3)(c); RCW 66.24.630(3)(c). The exception was made necessary by I-1183's direction to the WSLCB that it close all state liquor stores, and auction off the right to operate the former state stores at the same locations as the stores had previously been operated. AR 1; I-1183 § 102(2)(c); RCW 66.24.620; WASAV, 174 Wn.2d at 650.

As the WSLCB stated in its explanatory materials prepared for the auctions, the right to operate a liquor store that did not meet the minimum

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Prior to enactment of I-1183, spirits were sold in the state through liquor stores operated by the state, and through closely regulated "contract liquor stores," operated by private parties pursuant to an agreement with the State. See WASAV, 174 Wn.2d at 648. The case at bar concerns a state liquor store, and contract stores are not addressed herein.

size requirements was "a special right," and a "special exception" to the law that was "granted on a very limited basis," and applied only to those stores that occupied, in the words of the WSLCB, their "current footprint." AR 1. Further, the owner/purchaser of the right would be authorized to "establish a liquor retail business at the original state liquor store location without challenge by the local jurisdiction." *Id.* The WSLCB's materials accurately reflected the precise language of I-1183, which directed the WSLCB to sell by auction the right to "operate a liquor store upon the premises" at each "state-owned store location." I-1183 § 102(4)(c); RCW 66.24.620(4)(c).

The WSLCB went on to opine in its explanatory materials that if a successful bidder was not able to reach agreement with the landlord of the premises, the bidder's options were to (1) resell their acquired right to another individual; (2) request an alternative location through the WSLCB licensing process; or (3) hold their right for future action. AR 3. The opportunity to request an alternate location is a departure from the initiative's language.

The state liquor store auctions proceeded on-line. AR 1. The terms and conditions of the store auctions included a disclaimer clause, which provided that bids on the stores were "as is, where is." AR 6. In addition, the terms and conditions made clear that bidders were competing

for the right to apply for a spirit retail license "associated with the location of the former state liquor store in its current footprint." AR 7. The terms and conditions went on to state that, "in the event the winning bidder is unable to reach agreement with the landlord, they may request the relocation of the right to another address within one (1) radius mile of the state store location." Id.<sup>5</sup>

The auction of rights to operate retail sales in former state liquor stores, including the one at issue here, concluded on April 20, 2012. AR 1; I-1183 § 102(3)(c).

In the auction for the stores, the license applicants entered a winning bid for former WSLCB Store No. 152. AR 14. Former Store No. 152 was located at 914 South Burlington Boulevard, in Burlington. AR 15. The license applicants immediately notified the WSLCB that it did not plan to open the store at its then-present location. AR 12.<sup>6</sup>

In early May 2012, the license applicants executed and delivered to the WSLCB three documents – an inventory sales agreement, an auction

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> There is nothing in the administrative record to indicate where the one mile radius was derived from or the right of the WSLCB to provide for moving the location from the site of the former state store. Moreover, in drafting the terms and conditions; the WSLCB included a term that allowed the auction winner to move the location of a former state store if the auction winner could not arrange to lease the former state store location pursuant to an "adopted interim policy," which was a "prequel" to formal rulemaking to adopt the relocation in rule form.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> AR 12 is entitled State Store Award Winner Appointment, and is undated. AR 12 is further referenced in AR 15, which is dated May 7, 2012.

rights registration form, and a store relocation request.<sup>7</sup> The inventory sales agreement memorialized the terms and conditions of the sale of the inventory of former Store No. 152. AR 15-16. Consistent with the applicant's prior notification, see AR 12, the Agreement recites the applicant's intent to move the former liquor store to a different location." AR 15. The auction rights registration form was notarized, and identified Hakam Singh as the individual who had bid on former Store No. 152 at the on-line auction. Inconsistent with the inventory sales AR 19. agreement, the registration form recited that upon payment of the bid amount; Mr. Singh would be "awarded the exclusive rights to apply for a spirit retail license at the [same location as the former Store No. 152] within the square footage previously associated with the state liquor store." The third document submitted was the store relocation request. AR 23. The license applicants proposed moving the former Store No. 152 to an existing Mini-Mart. As justification for the requested relocation, the license applicants stated that the "Landlord Refused to Lease." Id.

On June 27, 2012, the WSLCB approved the license applicants' request to relocate the former state liquor store to a Mini-Mart it was then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The sales agreement, AR 12, was executed on May 7, 2012 by both the license applicants and a representative of the WSLCB; it appears to be accompanied by a check of that same date. AR 18. The registration form was executed by the license applicants and notarized on that same day, however there is no indication of when it was received by the WSLCB.

operating in the City. AR 23. Policy No. BIP-04-2012, which purports to provide guidelines as to the relocation of former state liquor stores, went into effect over two months later, on September 1, 2012. CP 133-37.

Former Store No. 152 was located adjacent to, and surrounded by, other retailers and commercial service providers. The site of the former store was not near any schools, parks or playgrounds, or similar areas where children congregate or would ordinarily pass by. CP 160.

By contrast, the Mini-Mart, which was licensed by the WSLCB, is a convenience store that still sells gas. CP 164. It is located just over 500 feet from the property of Burlington-Edison High School. CP 164; AR 39.<sup>8</sup> It is also located close to numerous multi-family housing developments. CP 164. Significantly, it is immediately adjacent to Harry Ethington Memorial Park where store advertising can be seen. CP 164-65. Because of the multi-family developments, the location of the high school, and the park, minors will regularly come into contact with the new liquor store. CP 163-65.

On May 14, 2012, the WSLCB notified the City that license applicants had applied for a liquor license at a new location, 157 South Burlington Boulevard in Burlington, WA. AR 36. The cover letter from the WSLCB Director of Licensing & Regulation Alan Rathbun stated that

 $<sup>^{8}</sup>$  If it were just a few feet closer, the WSLCB would statutorily have to deny the license. RCW 66.24.010(9)(a).

the license applicants' location is a former state liquor store. In providing the notification, the Director informed the City as follows:

The Board may not deny a Spirits Retailer license to an otherwise qualified holder of a former state liquor store operating rights sold at auction. Therefore, this notice is being provided to you as an informational courtesy only.

Included with the cover letter was a notice form. AR 36.<sup>9</sup> The form stated that it was provided "as required by RCW 66.24.010(8). RCW 66.24.010(9) requires the WSLCB to identify and give notice to schools, churches, and other "public institutions" of the license application because that statutory section requires the WSLCB to give "due consideration" to the "location of the business … with respect to the proximity" to those institutions.

RCW 66.24.010(9)(a) defines "public institutions" as "institutions of higher education, parks, community centers, libraries, and transit centers." Yet the WSLCB form, Application Processing Report/License Review, fails to conform to the statute and defines a public institution as a "public college or university." AR 33. No notice was provided to the City under this section although a park is adjacent to the proposed location and WSLCB officials were familiar with the site. AR 36, 41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The cover letter is attached as Appendix C. The WSLCB had the statutory responsibility to prepare a proper agency record. It failed to include its own communication with the Mayor of Burlington.

The City responded by letter stating its objections to the relocation of the licensee on June 1, 2012. AR 36–39. In its letter, the City pointed out that the location proposed by the licensee for the former Store No. 152 by license applicant was at a different physical location than the store had been at when operated by the WSLCB. AR 37. The City further observed that the clear language of I-1183 did not allow a former State liquor store to be moved unless the liquor store met the 10,000 square foot minimum established by I-1183; and that the initiative itself as well as the Voter's Pamphlet that explained the consequences of the adoption of the initiative were unambiguous, that former state liquor stores would not be allowed to be relocated to convenience store/gas stations as proposed by the license applicant. AR 37–39. City also informed the WSLCB:

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