NO. 455650

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE CITY OF BURLINGTON, a Washington Municipal Corporation,

Appellant,

v.

THE WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD, a Washington Agency; HAKAM SINGH AND JANE DOE SINGH, and the marital community composed thereof; and HK INTERNATIONAL, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

R. JULY SIMPSON, WSBA 45869 Assistant Attorney General

MARY M. TENNYSON, WSBA 11197 Senior Assistant Attorney General

Office ID 91029 PO Box 40110 Olympia, WA 98504-0110 360-753-2702

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

(2) That person's asserted interests are among those that the agency was required to consider when it engaged in the agency action challenged; and

(3) A judgment in favor of that person would substantially eliminate or redress the prejudice to that

person caused or likely to be caused by the agency action. [1988 c 288 § 506.]

RCW 34.05.530 (emphasis added). The first "prejudice" prong and the third "redressability" prong are together referred to as the "injury-in-fact" test. *Allan v. Univ. of Wash.*, 140 Wn.2d 323, 327, 997 P.2d 360 (2000). Regardless, each prong must be analyzed independently and each prong must be met. The City failed to establish that the agency action prejudiced it, or was likely to prejudice it, and that a judgment in its favor would redress any injury. The superior court thus properly dismissed its petition for lack of standing.

1. The City has failed to establish prejudice or likely prejudice

The first prong of the APA standing test requires a showing that "[t]he agency action has prejudiced or is likely to prejudice that person." RCW 34.05.530(1). This requires allegations demonstrating the agency decision has caused the person to be "specifically and perceptibly harmed." *Trepanier v. City of Everett*, 64 Wn. App. 380, 382–83, 824 P.2d 524 (1992). An "immediate, concrete, and specific injury" must be shown where a threatened injury, rather than an existing injury, is alleged. *Id.* at 383 (citing *Roshan v. Smith*, 615 F. Supp. 901, 905 (D.D.C. 1985)). "If the injury is merely conjectural or hypothetical, there can be no standing." *Id.* (citing *United States v. Students Challenging Regulatory*

Agency Procedures (SCRAP), 412 U.S. 669, 93 S. Ct. 2405, 668–89, 37 L. Ed. 2d 254 (1973)). Furthermore, the injury may be "neither imaginary nor speculative." *Allan*, 140 Wn.2d at 332.

The City failed to establish that it did or would suffer any more than a conjectural or hypothetical injury from the Board's action. Where it alleged only a threatened injury from the relocation of the liquor license operations, it needed to establish an "immediate, concrete, and specific injury." *Trepanier*, 64 Wn. App. at 383. It failed to do so.

In its written objection, the City primarily argued the Board lacked authority to allow the relocation, I-1183 was unambiguous (as allegedly proved by the voter's pamphlet), and that the voter's pamphlet supported the claim that "a liquor store may not be operated from a convenience store" (a limitation which is found nowhere in the statute). AR 37–39. The City concluded its letter with two final paragraphs specifically addressing two bases for its objection with regard to the proposed location. AR 39. The City wrote that the "proposed location is the site of numerous activities requiring law enforcement involvement. The Burlington Police Department has logged many calls to the proposed license location, reflecting the high level of crime that occurs at the licensee's business." AR 39. First, the City claims it was injured due to the "high level of crime" associated with the location. However, no facts, data, statistics, reports, declarations or records of any kind were attached to bolster the City's allegations. Nor was any connection between the calls to law enforcement and the applicant's operations at the premises made (as opposed to traffic stops using the store parking lot as a locale, for example). Neither was any connection demonstrated between the alleged law enforcement involvement and the beer and wine sold at the store since 2003. In short, the City did not show an immediate, concrete, and specific injury required to meet their burden to show standing.

Second, the City claims it was injured based on its opinion that the liquor store was "incompatible with the land use in the area" due to a high school located more than 500 feet from the location. AR 39.⁸ On the one hand, the City claimed high-school students already purchase items such as soft drinks, candy and ice cream from the store, and then on the other suggested that adding the sale of spirits to the store "will necessarily bring children into frequent contact with those individuals who commit the crimes that plague the Skagit Big Mini Mart." *Id.* The City did not offer

⁸ Had the school been located within 500 of the proposed location the Board would have been required to give "due consideration" and provide written notification to the school. RCW 66.24.010(9)(a). The Board would not have been able to issue the license if the school had objected. *Id.* Here, the school was not located within 500 feet of the proposed location, the City merely objected due to the fact that the proposed location was closer than its original location. AR 39.

then and does not argue now how adding spirits to the store would change the current dynamics between children who already frequent the store and the alleged "individuals who commit the crimes." *Id.* The conclusion requires leaps in logic and unfounded inferences and falls far short of the concrete and specific injuries required to show standing.

Next, the City improperly argues in its brief that it is prejudiced by the fact that the location is "adjacent to a park where drinkers can congregate, next to multifamily housing" and that the Board was required to give notice to the City due to the park. Br. of Appellant, 13 and 27. This argument should be stricken for several reasons. First, it was not raised below and may, therefore, not be raised on appeal. RCW 34.05.554. Second, it relies on evidence stricken from the record. CP 153-162, 8/23/2013 Hearing, RP 23. Third, even if the Court considers the argument, the statute does not require notice to all public institutions, as the City argues, but only to those "identified by the board as appropriate to receive notice." RCW 66.24.010(9)(a). Fourth, the City does not allege that it owns the park thus requiring notice (if notice were mandatory) or deemed appropriate to receive notice. Fifth, assuming the City in fact owns the park and the park was appropriate to receive notice, the city already received notice of the license application under RCW 66.24.010(8) making notice under (9) redundant.

The City argues it will be required to dedicate greater amounts of law enforcement resources to prevent youth access to alcohol, based on the statements of Liquor Control Officer Johnson. Br. of Appellant, 35. Officer Johnson stated she has seen "a stream of kids from the high school go into the store," and concludes stating she didn't see any come out with beer, but that the beer could have been concealed. AR 41. Officer Johnson also states that "[a]s a liquor officer and a parent I am concerned a spirits license for this premises is an invitation to add to the serious problem of youth access to alcohol." Id. The City claims Officer Johnson "reported that minors buy alcohol at the Mini-Mart 'all the time." Br. of Appellant, 33. However, the statement was actually: "One of the Investigative Aids I work with goes to that high school and he says he knows kids who buy alcohol there all the time," a double, or potentially triple, hearsay statement. AR 41.

Based on these concerns, the City argues it "will be compelled by the WSLCB's decision to dedicate additional law enforcement resources to ensure that a convenience store selling liquor in close proximity to the City's high school does not result in youth obtaining liquor through theft or deception." Br. of Appellant, 35. However, Officer Johnson's statement merely states concerns and conjecture. This does not amount to an immediate, specific, and concrete injury, and thus does not establish standing. Nor does it amount to "chronic illegal activity" associated with the applicant's operation of the premises, which the Legislature has recognized as appropriate grounds for denial of a liquor license. *See* RCW 66.24.010(2), (12).

In contrast to the speculation offered by the City, the violation history of the location shows the location has been under scrutiny and close surveillance since its most recent violation in April 2008. AR 43. Between April 2008 and August 2012, the Board conducted 47 Compliance and Premises Checks, 18 surveillances, and multiple complaint investigations with no further violations resulting. AR at 43– 48. The compliance checks and surveillances show contact on a nearly monthly basis (with contact often occurring multiple times in a month) with no underage sales or violations of any kind. Id.

Based on these facts, the City's claimed prejudice is not only "conjectural or hypothetical" it is imaginary and speculative. As the Statement of Intent to Approve Liquor License Over the Objection of the City of Burlington stated: the City "did not demonstrate any conduct that constitutes chronic illegal activity as defined by RCW 66.24.010(12)" and the "objection does not conclusively link the licensee and areas under the licensee's control to the information cited in the city's objection." AR 28– 31. The City failed to demonstrate "chronic illegal activity" and failed to demonstrate the illegal activity alleged in its objection is linked to HK International's operation of the location or its current sales of beer and wine such that the addition of the sale of spirits would exacerbate any existing issues. The City thus failed to satisfy the statutory requirements that could have been grounds for the Board to deny the license application, which may have established the necessary injury to seek judicial review under the APA. The City's claims that additional law enforcement would be required if a spirits retail license were granted, or that any other prejudice would be caused, are conjectural, hypothetical, imaginary and speculative. The order of dismissal for lack of standing should be affirmed.

2. The City cannot establish that a judgment in its favor would "redress the prejudice" it suffered

To establish standing under the APA, a party also must prove that "[a] judgment in favor of that person would substantially eliminate or redress the prejudice to that person caused or likely to be caused by the agency action." RCW 34.05.530(3). Redressability requires a demonstration that it is "likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision." *KS Tacoma Holdings*, 166 Wn. App. at 129 (2012). Because the City failed to establish any prejudice or likely prejudice, it cannot demonstrate that a court could

substantially redress any prejudice. Even assuming it proved a concrete injury, the City further fails to establish that a judgment in its favor would redress any prejudice suffered because the alleged crime, the presence of high school aged children and the sales of wine and beer would remain unchanged even if the Board denied HK International's spirits retail license.

The City alleges the proposed location "is the site of numerous activities requiring law enforcement involvement" and that high school students frequent the Skagit Big Mini-Mart such that "[a]dding liquor to the products sold at this location will necessarily bring children into frequent close contact with those individuals who commit the crimes that plague the Skagit Big Mini Mart." AR 39. The City also claims that it "will be compelled by the WSLCB's decision to dedicate additional law enforcement resources." Br. of Appellant, 35.

The City fails to allege or explain how adding spirits would become the logical link to bring the children in contact with crime. The City alleges that both elements are already present at the proposed location. And the licensee already sells beer and wine at the premises. AR 33. Thus, a denial of the license would not redress the City's claimed prejudice. The City, therefore, fails to make a showing that a denial of the license would substantially eliminate or redress the alleged problem. A speculative injury cannot be redressed.

3. The City incorrectly states that the Zone of Interest prong is the most significant

The City incorrectly declares the zone of interest prong "the most significant element" and argues that "[a]s party to the administrative proceeding, the City *was entitled to standing to obtain judicial review of an adverse administrative order without being required to meet all of the normal redressability and immediacy requirements of the 'injury-in-fact' requirements of 34.05.530.*" Br. of Appellant, 25–27 (emphasis added). All three elements must be satisfied for a party to establish standing. The City cannot establish standing to seek APA judicial review simply because the Board was required to give it notice of the proposed license location and consider its objections.

The City is correct that RCW 66.24.010 provides that the issuance of a liquor license "requires the WSLCB to seek comment from cities and towns before issuing a license." Br. of Appellant, 26. However, the Board is clearly allowed to grant a liquor license despite an objection from the local government and just as clearly has the discretion to grant or deny the local government a hearing. RCW 66.24.010(9)(d). As the Court of Appeals has held, standing to participate in one part of the process does not create an automatic right to judicial review: "A party's standing to participate in an administrative proceeding, however, is not necessarily coextensive with standing to challenge an administrative decision in a court." *Patterson v. Segale*, 171 Wn. App. 251, 257, 289 P.3d 657 (2012) (citing, e.g., *Med. Waste Associates, Inc. v. Maryland Waste Coalition, Inc.*, 327 Md. 596, 611, 612 A.2d 241, 249 (1992)). Rather, it remains the task of the reviewing court to determine whether the City now has standing to seek judicial review of the Board's decision. *Patterson v. Segale*, 171 Wn. App. 251, 257, 289 P.3d 657 (2012). Standing requires a person to establish they were "aggrieved or adversely affected by the agency decision. This requires a showing of an injury in-fact." *Patterson*, 171 Wn. App. at 253–54.

Here, the City failed to establish the first and third prongs of the standing requirements and, thus, has failed to meet its burden.

4. The City's remaining arguments are meritless

The City makes numerous arguments not raised below, which need not be considered by this Court. RCW 34.05.554. These arguments are meritless, but some will be briefly addressed here.

a. The City is not excused from establishing all three elements of standing on the basis that it is a governmental subdivision

The City argues, without citing any authority, that its "unique role as a general purpose local government" excuses it from establishing prejudice and redressability as required by RCW 34.05.530. Br. of Appellant, 27. It claims that "private litigants" alone are subject to the "more exacting standings [sic]" requirements of RCW 34.05.530, seeking to distinguish between a governmental agency and a person. *Id.* However, the APA defines "person" broadly to mean "any individual, partnership, corporation, association, *governmental subdivision or unit thereof*" RCW 34.05.010(14) (emphasis added). Furthermore, the City's argument ignores that RCW 34.05.530 states that a "person has standing to obtain judicial review . . . only when all three" of the standing elements are met. RCW 34.05.530. The City's argument that it may be excused from establishing two of the three standing elements is directly contradicted by the plain language of the statute.

The City claims that to confer a relaxed standing requirement under RCW 34.05.530 for cities "would effectuate the purpose and the construction the Legislature established in adopting [Title 66]." Br. of Appellant, 27. In support of this, the City mistakenly relies upon *Sukin v*. Wash. State Liquor Control Board, 42 Wn. App. 649, 710 P.2d 814, 816 (1985), review denied, 105 Wn.2d 1017 (1986).

In *Sukin*, the City of Spokane decided to file objections when the Sukins applied to renew their liquor license. *Id.* at 650–51. The City was unable to file within the 20 day time limit, but the Board permitted the untimely objections. *Id.* at 651. A hearing was held, and the application for renewal was ultimately denied. *Id.*

At that time, RCW 66.24.010(8) did not specifically authorize the Board to extend the time period for submission of written objections, as the current RCW 66.24.010(8)(c) does, but it also contained no language indicating that failure to file objections within 20 days deprived the Board of jurisdiction to consider them. *Sukin*, 42 Wn. App. at 652. The Sukins argued the Board had no jurisdiction because the objections were untimely. The Court of Appeals stated: "To read such a restriction into the statute would frustrate the purpose of the liquor control act as expressed in RCW 66.08.010." *Sukin*, 42 Wn. App. at 652–53, 710 P.2d at 816.

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